
Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
Directorate

Cumbria House  Botchergate  Carlisle
Cumbria  CA1 1RD

Tel 01228 221030   Email pensions@cumbria.gov.uk

27 January 2020 

To:  The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 
Fire Local Pension Board

Agenda
CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD

A meeting of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board will be held as follows: 

Date: Tuesday 4 February 2020
Time: 1.00 pm
Place: Community Room. Carlisle West Fire Station, Brookside, 

Carlisle CA2 7GW

PLEASE NOTE: there will be a training session for members on Data System 
Security following the meeting

Dawn Roberts
Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and Community Services

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Lorraine Davis
Direct Line: 07929 164805
Email: lorraine.davis@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



MEMBERSHIP

Employer Representatives Scheme Members

Mr A Lamb Mr D Harrison (chair)
Mrs J Willis Mr M Nicholson



A G E N D A

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any items on the agenda.

3  MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS AND REFERENCE

To note any changes in membership and the terms of reference of the Board.

4  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial 



interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   

5  MINUTES

To receive the minutes of the previous meeting held on 22 October 2019 (copy 
enclosed).

6  SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MEETINGS

To note the future scheduled meetings:-

 5 May 2020 at 1pm at Penrith Fire HQ
 15 July 2020 at 1pm at Cumbria House, Carlisle
 22 October 2020 at 1pm at Workington Fire Station

7  MONITORING REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

To consider a report by the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) (copy enclosed).

8  CUMBRIA FIREFIGHTERS’ PENSION SCHEME (FPS) DATA IMPROVEMENT 
PLAN

To consider a report by the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) (copy enclosed).



PART II: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

9  VERBAL UPDATE ON EMERGING ISSUES

To receive a verbal update from the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer).



This page is intentionally left blank



Agreed by Cumbria County Council 10th January 2019

Part 2Q: Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board 

1 Summary 

1.1 The Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board is responsible for assisting the 
Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government Scheme to comply 
with all relevant legislative requirements and to ensure the effective governance 
of the scheme for Cumbria Firefighters Pensions. 

2 Functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board 

2.1 The functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board are to: 

(a) Assist the Scheme Manager of the Cumbria Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 
to secure compliance with: 

(i) The regulations covering administration of the Firefighters’ Pension 
Schemes (FPS); 

(ii) Other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the 
FPS; and 

(iii) The requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the 
FPS; and

(b) To ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the 
FPS. 

2.2 The Board must have a policy and framework to meet the knowledge and 
understanding requirements of section 248A of the Pensions Act 2004. 

2.3 In its role in assisting the Scheme Manager as described above, the Board shall 
report twice yearly to Council on matters reviewed and suggestions for their 
consideration. 

2.4 Where the Board is concerned that due consideration has not been given to 
matters of non-compliance the Board may submit a report for consideration by 
the Audit and Assurance Committee as the body designated by the Scheme 
Manager with the capacity to investigate such matters on its behalf. 

2.5 The Board is constituted under the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and the Fire 
Pension Scheme (Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2014 and is therefore 
not subject to the requirements of s.101 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

7

Agenda Item 3



Agreed by Cumbria County Council 10th January 2019

2.6 The Board has no remit as a decision making body but is established to assist 
the Scheme Manager fulfil its functions which shall be deemed to cover all 
aspects of governance and administration of the Pension Scheme. 

3 Operating Structure and Codes of Conduct of the Cumbria Fire Local 
Pension Board

3.1 The operating structure and codes of conduct of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension 
Board is as follows: 

a) The Board will be quorate if 50% of designated members (i.e. 2) are in 
attendance. 

b) Prior to appointment to the Board all members will be required to sign up to 
the Board’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy. As a body 
representing the public interest the Code of Conduct and Conflicts of 
Interest Policy of members of the Fire Local Pension Board will be aligned 
to those applicable to members of the Pension Committee. 

c) The Board will meet as a minimum twice a year. Meetings will be held during 
normal working hours and will predominantly be held within County 
boundaries. 

d) Where required, a minimum of two Board members (one from the scheme 
member representatives and one from the scheme employer 
representatives) or the Scheme Manager can request a special meeting be 
convened. Notice of ten working days must be given. 

e) As a non-decision-making body the Board have no authority to establish 
working parties / sub-groups. 

f) Each member shall have an equal vote and, should it be required, the Chair 
will have the casting vote. 

4 Commissioning of Service providers and Advisors 

4.1 All members of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board have the right to access 
the support of independent advisors, however due regard has to be taken of 
securing value for money and as such whether in the first instance officers of the 
County Council could provide the assistance required. 

4.2 Items of expenditure by the Board must have prior approval from the Section 151 
Officer. 

8



Agreed by Cumbria County Council 10th January 2019

5 Role of Officers 

5.1 Reasonable secretarial and professional support will be provided by Officers of 
the Scheme Manager. Costs associated with this will be charged to Cumbria Fire 
and Rescue Service. 

6 Publication and Data Protection 

6.1 As a general principle meetings will be open to the public. 

6.2 Paper or electronic versions (as requested) of all agendas and papers will be 
provided to all members of the Board prior to a meeting. The Chair can accept 
that items be tabled on the day should such a need arise. 

6.3 As a matter of policy the Pension Board has adopted the principals of paperless 
working, therefore as a matter of course public access to all agendas, public 
papers and minutes etc. will be available on the Council’s website. On request 
alternative media versions are available. 

6.4 The County Council as the Scheme Manager is the registered data controller of 
the Cumbria FPS, and as such all policies and practices in this regard applicable 
within the County Council are directly applicable to the Board. 

7 Membership 

7.1 Equal representation between scheme employers and scheme members is 
required. The membership of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board will 
comprise two scheme member representatives and two scheme employer 
representatives. 

7.2 Appointment of Board members - to ensure an open and transparent selection 
process and to ensure the Scheme Manager meets its obligation to ensure 
appointed members have the relevant understanding and capacity, the selection 
process will be through application, matching to a role profile and interview. The 
Appointment Panel will consist of the Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and 
Portfolio Holder for Finance. 

7.3 Appointments will be for four years (or, in the case of elected members for the 
remainder of their current term of office) and there will be no limit on the number 
of times a member of the board can seek to be reappointed. 

7.4 The two scheme member representatives will be selected to ensure all 
membership groups within the Fund are considered. 

9



Agreed by Cumbria County Council 10th January 2019

7.5 Appointment of the Chair / Vice Chair – the Scheme Manager will appoint the 
Chair and the Vice Chair. The roles will be split with one being a scheme member 
representative and one being a scheme employer representative and this will be 
alternated on a two yearly cycle. 

7.6 Reimbursement of reasonable expenses for attendance at meetings and training 
sessions will be in line with the Council’s agreed policies and rates for elected 
members. All such costs will be met directly by Cumbria Fire and Rescue 
Service. 

7.7 Relevant knowledge and capacity – the Scheme Manager must ensure that 
each person appointed to the Board has the relevant knowledge and the capacity 
to represent the employers or members (as appropriate) of the Scheme. Initially 
this will be done through selection by the Scheme Manager but, following 
appointment, it is a member’s individual responsibility to ensure they attend 
sufficient training to enable them to continue to fulfil the experience and capacity 
requirements. Full training will be provided and all reasonable costs will be met 
by Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service. To ensure compliance with the above a 
general level of attendance at meetings and training events is required. 

8 Substitution

8.1 Substitutes are permitted and sufficient substitutes will be appointed to ensure 
that the representation described in 7.2 can be maintained whenever a 
substitution is required.

8.2 In recognition of the requirements relating to relevant knowledge and capacity, 
substitutes must be subject to the same appointment process as Board members 
detailed in 7.2 and the relevant knowledge and capacity requirements as set out 
at 7.7. Each substitute will be appointed for a four year term (or, in the case of 
elected members for the remainder of their current term of office) and there is no 
limit on the number of times the substitute can seek to be reappointed.

8.3 Reimbursement of reasonable travel expenses for attendance at meetings and 
training sessions will be in line with the County Council’s agreed policies and 
rates for elected members. All such costs will be met directly by the Cumbria Fire 
and Rescue Service. 

10



CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board held on Tuesday, 22 
October 2019 at 1.00 pm at Community Room, Kendal Fire Station, Busher Walk, 
Kendal LA9 4RH

PRESENT:

Mr D Harrison (Chair)

Mr AWC Lamb  

Also in Attendance:-

Ms R Blundell - Deputy Director, Deputy Director Pensions 
Administration, Local Pension Partnership

Mrs L Davis - Democratic Services Officer
Mrs J Dole - Finance Manager Pensions Administration
Mr P George - Group Finance Manager - Pensions, Investments and 

Insurance
Mr S Healey - Chief Fire Officer
Ms T Robinson - Business Partner
Ms L Taylor - Finance Manager - Pensions Investments and 

Governance
Ms G Welbourn - Technical Finance Officer - Pensions
Ms J Wisdom - Operations Manager, Pensions Administration, Local 

Pensions Partnership

PART 1 – ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE 
PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

13 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Mr M Nicholson, Mr S Ratcliffe and Mrs J 
Willis.

14 MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Board’s Terms of Reference were noted.  It was further noted that Cllr A Lamb 
had replaced Cllr G Ellis as an Employer Representative of the Board, that Mr M 
Nicholson was reappointed as a scheme members representative for a further four 
years and Mr S Ratcliffe had been appointed as substitute scheme member 
representative.

11

Agenda Item 5



15 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

There were no disclosures of interest at the meeting.

16 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of Agenda Item No 10 - Your Pension 
Presentation and Agenda Item No 11 - Verbal Update on 
Emerging Issues on the grounds that they contained exempt 
information as defined under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) relating 
to the financial or business affairs of particular individuals.

17 MINUTES

RESOLVED, that the minutes of the meeting held on 23 April 2019 be agreed as an 
accurate record and signed by the Chair.

18 SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MEETINGS

The following schedule of meetings were noted:-

4 February 2020 at 1 pm at Carlisle West Fire Station
5 May 2020 at 1 pm at Penrith Fire HQ
15 July 2020 at 1 pm at Cumbria House, Carlisle

19 MONITORING REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 30 JUNE 2019

Board members considered a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 
Officer) which advised of any material risk management, policy or governance 
issues and national regulatory changes to 30 September 2019 and performance 
monitoring issues of the Scheme to 30 June 2019.

The Technical Finance Officer - Pensions reported that whilst there had been a 
number of developments during the quarter that had led to amendments to the 
comments associated with some of the risks on the register, there were no 
proposed amendments to the scores associated with the impact or likelihood of the 
risks occurring.  The current risk register had 12 risks comprising 1 red risk 
(information security arrangements), 2 amber risks (pension administration 
processes and timeliness of managing a breach) and 9 green risks.  

Following a discussion on cyber security, members welcomed the suggestion that a 
member of the ICT team be invited to attend a future meeting of the Board and 
outline the risk security arrangements in place.  In order to be able to better 

12



differentiate between risks 2.4 and 2.6, it was agreed that the terminology in the 
register be amended to highlight the different mitigations.

The Finance Manager - Regulatory & Benefits advised as previously reported, the 
draft results of the 2016 valuation showed that the cost cap floor has been breached 
(i.e. costs are more than 2% lower than the 16.8% of pensionable earnings cost 
target set out in the 2015 firefighter scheme regulations).  Under normal 
circumstances this would result in action being taken (e.g. improving member 
benefits) to bring the cost back up to within the target cost range. 

However, as also previously reported, this action was paused in January following a 
ruling by the Court of Appeal on two cases (Sargeant and McCloud).  The cases 
related to ‘transitional protections’ in public service pension schemes which applied 
on the introduction of the new career average public sector pension schemes in 
2015.  In the case of the FPS this is the protections in the 2015 Scheme which 
allowed certain members to have benefits calculated under the 1992 and 2006 
Schemes.  Following consideration of the cases the Court ruled that these changes 
discriminated against a group of firefighters and a group of judges on the grounds of 
age.  The case was now being progressed to remedy and until this outcome was 
known, any potential costs or impact on the cost cap process could not be reliably 
estimated.

Members noted that there were no breaches to report for the quarter to 31 March 
2019, and that it had not been necessary to exercise any of the Scheme Manager 
discretions during the period.

The Fire Scheme Board had commissioned a survey in 2018/19 to be undertaken 
by AON and a summary of findings was attached as Appendix 4 to the report.  
Members noted that not all schemes were able to provide cost information and 
therefore the costs indicated in the AON report could not be taken at this stage to be 
a completely accurate reflection, however the Fire Scheme Board felt it was a 
worthwhile first step and would be looking to collate costs on an annual basis going 
forward to improve accuracy.

With reference to the YPS performance members noted that performance had 
improved.  

It was reported that in May 2019 the LGA issued a survey to capture training 
provision and uptake across the fire fighters pension schemes; of the 51 responses 
received 5 of these were from Cumbria County Council or the Fire and Rescue 
Authority (10%).

Overall there was a high level of satisfaction indicating that current training provision 
is adequate in terms of content and delivery; however areas for consideration when 
planning future programmes of events are:

o Greater utilisation of regional training venues
o Wider promotion of the free – Annual In-house training session available from 

the LGA

13



o In addition the survey captured that pensionable pay, pensions tax and ill-
health retirements were the most requested topics for future training.

It was agreed that joint training events with the LGA and YPS both presented be 
arranged, possibly in collaboration with other FRAs in the North West, and that 
Cumbria make a request for the LGA to provide a training update to a future 
meeting of the Board.

It was reported that the Pension Regulator (tPR) published the 4th annual Public 
Sector Pension Scheme Governance and Administration survey in July 2019. 
Previous surveys identified that key features of good governance were becoming 
more commonplace across public sector schemes. In the latest survey tPR looked 
in more depth into how these were operating in practice.

In 2018 the responses covered 90% of Firefighters pension schemes which relates 
93% of scheme membership. There are six key processes that the Pension 
Regulator focuses on and for the Firefighters schemes, improvements were 
experienced across five of these areas.

Members noted that there was a reduction in the number of Fire Pension Boards 
that had a documented policy to manage Conflicts of Interest, however this is 
something that the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board has always had in place.  
Only 20% of Boards held four or more meetings a year, and the same number did 
not have risk management processes. Cumbria Fire Pension Local Board have 
scheduled quarterly meetings and review their scheme specific risk register at each 
meeting.  A summary of the results for the Firefighters Pension Scheme were 
summarised at the Annual Conference and the slide was appended to the report.

In relation to regulatory changes members noted that there had been no further 
developments in any of the following areas:-

 Public Sector discretionary exit payment lump sums
 Public Sector recovery of exit payments regulations (aka the “clawback” 

regulations)

RESOLVED, that the report be received and the performance of the Cumbria 
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme to 30 June 2019 and any material policy 
or governance issues and national regulatory changes to 30 
September 2019 be noted.

20 CUMBRIA FIREFIGHTERS' PENSION SCHEME (FPS) DATA 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN

Members considered a report from the Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) 
which advised that Your Pension Scheme (YPS) had carried out a review of data in 
October 2018 specifically looking at items that the Pensions Regulator referred to as 
common and specific data and this assessment indicated over 99% of common data 
and over 93% of scheme specific data was present and accurate.

14



In January 2019 a data plan was developed to further improve the quality of data 
across the scheme and this report updated members on progress made delivering 
against the plan during the quarter.  The report concluded that good progress was 
being made with the actions detailed in the data improvement plan.

The Group Finance Manager - Pensions Investments & Insurance informed 
members of the Member Tracing exercise that had been undertaken to ensure 
scheme member data was up to date.  The Scheme had engaged Target 
Professional Services Ltd to attempt to verify the correct addresses of the active and 
pensioners that were incomplete.  Members noted that following this exercise there 
were only 25 members (out of 229) to have their current addresses traced.

Members were informed of the National Fraud Initiative (NFI), a compulsory 
exercise carried out every two years that matched electronic data within and 
between public and private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud.  It was noted 
that for the next data set from the NFI was scheduled to be received in 2020.

To conclude the Group Finance Manager updated members on the Government 
Actuary Department (GAD) 2016 Valuation Data.

RESOLVED, that the report and data quality improvement plan be noted.

21 PENSIONABLE PAY

Members received a report from the Chief Fire Officer providing the Board with an 
update on the work undertaken following the Booth v Mid and West Wales (2019) 
case, a recent High Court judgment on pensionable pay.

Members noted that there had been a number of key cases that had been referred 
to the Pension Ombudsman and High Court in relation to firefighters pay.  The 
Booth v Mid and West Wales case considered pensionable pay for Firefighters in 
the Welsh Firefighters Pension Schemes, the points of the judgement equally apply 
in the English Firefighters Pension Schemes.  Members were informed that 4 
firefighters had complained to the Pension Ombudsman whose decision was 
appealed and considered by the High Court.  A summary of the High Court 
judgement was outlined in the report.

Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS) were required to review and make an 
informed assessment on the pay provided to firefighters within the meaning of the 
different scheme rules and how these were pensionable (pensionable pay or 
Additional Pension Benefit APB).  Assessments would need to be made by:

 reviewing what payments were made
 the circumstances around those payments
 the contractual arrangements (including those undertaking secondary 

contracts)
 reviewing the relevant role maps 
 the different definitions of permanency under the different scheme rules
 interpreting the application of pensionable pay using the ‘Blackburne 

Principals’ 

15



o calculated in accordance with ordinary rate of pay
o for work done under the firefighters contract of employment
o regular in nature i.e. something to which the firefighter was entitled in 

the ordinary course of fulfilling duties under the contract, not one off or 
unexpected 

Work was currently being undertaken to address the above actions by People 
Management and CFRS management and once completed a further update would 
be given to the Board.  After the initial assessment was completed, legal advice 
would be sought.

Members were informed that with regards to any retrospective action that may be 
needed to correct pensionable pay where it had previously deemed as not 
pensionable, the LGA on behalf of the Scheme Advisory Board was taking further 
legal advice specifically on whether the limitations act can or should be used.  The 
legal advice was still to be received.  

RESOLVED, that

(1) the report be noted;

(2) a further update be given at the next meeting of the Board

22 YOUR PENSION SERVICE PRESENTATION

Members received a verbal update from Ms R Blundell (Director of Member 
Operations, Local Pensions Partnership) and Ms J Wisdom (Operations Manager, 
Pensions Administration, Local Pensions Partnership).  The update included 
information on reorganisation in the service, performance, upgrading IT systems 
and staffing.  It was agreed that a meeting be arranged between the Local Pension 
Partnership and the Service Centre.

23 VERBAL UPDATE ON EMERGING ISSUES

Members received a verbal update from the Group Finance Manager - Pensions 
Investments & Insurance.

The meeting ended at 2.55 pm

16



CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD

Meeting date: 4th February 2020

From: Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)

MONITORING REPORT FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30TH 
SEPTEMBER  2019

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report advises Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board Members of any 
material risk management, policy or governance issues and national 
regulatory changes to 31st December 2019 and any performance 
monitoring issues of the Scheme to 30th September 2019. 

Risk Management: 

1.2 The Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board (the Board) follows accepted 
best practice across Public Sector Pension Schemes in formally 
reviewing Scheme risks at every meeting.

1.3 The risk register (as presented in Appendix 1) outlines the key risks to 
the Scheme.

1.4 One risk has been added to the register in the quarter (Sargeant 
Judgement) and one risk has been removed (Timeliness of Breach 
Reporting). 

1.5 Whilst there have been a number of developments during the quarter 
that have led to amendments to the comments associated with some of 
the risks on the register, there are no proposed amendments to the 
scores associated with the impact or likelihood of the risks occurring. 

Pensions Administration: 

1.6 Performance against key performance indicators for YPS was 100% 
(against the SLA of 95%) for the quarter to 30th September 2019. 

17

Agenda Item 7



1.7 Work on the next phase of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
reconciliation relating to active members is currently underway, with 
information awaited from HMRC. 

Governance: 

1.8 There are no legal breaches to report during the period. 

1.9 There were no discretions exercised during the period. 

Policy & Regulation:

1.10 Work continues on the development of a Discretions Policy for the 
Scheme. The Board have reviewed the draft policy and the sign off 
process is underway.

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 The Council’s vision is to be “A Council that works with residents, 
businesses, communities and other organisations to deliver the best 
services possible within the available resources”. As part of the 
approach to delivering this vision the Council aims to “Put customers 
at the heart of everything we do”.

2.2 Good governance and risk management will aid the Council in its role 
as Scheme Manager in ensuring its regulatory responsibilities are met, 
a good service is provided to scheme members and costs are 
controlled. Cost control will have a direct impact on revenue budgets.

2.3 There are no direct equality implications arising out of the 
recommendations in this report.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 It is recommended that the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board receive 
and note the performance of the Cumbria Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 
(FPS) to 30th September 2019 and any material policy or governance 
issues and national regulatory changes to 31st December 2019.

4.0 RISK 

4.1 Risk management is a key element of good governance for any 
organisation.  Officers of the Scheme continually review and monitor risks 
bringing any significant emerging issues to the Boards attention throughout 
the year, with Members formally reviewing these at each meeting. This 
quarterly review process ensures consistent and timely Member oversight of 
risk monitoring and thereby provides enhanced due diligence in this regard. 

18



4.2 The current risk register at December 2019 is attached at Appendix 1.  The 
register currently has 12 risks comprising 1 red risk (information security 
arrangements); 2 amber risks (pension administration processes and 
Sargeant Judgement); and 9 green risks.

4.3 This quarter there has been no amendments to the scoring of any of the 
risks, however there are a number of issues of note as detailed below.

 New Risk: Ref 1.6 - Sargeant Judgement

The Risk Register has previously noted the emerging risk related to the 
implications of Sargeant on Scheme liabilities and the impact this may 
have on employer contributions in the future. 

However, the Fire Scheme Advisory Board (FSAB) have recently 
released further information noting the potential additional burden that 
the Sargeant judgement may have on the administration function of the 
Scheme. 

The matter has been considered by an Employment Tribunal and, in 
December 2019, the Employment Tribunal issued an Interim Order. The 
Order in effect provides that, pending the final determination of all of the 
remedy issues, those that brought claims in England and are entitled to 
be treated as if they remained in the in 1992 FPS.  

Consequently, an additional risk has been added to the register noting 
that there is a risk that the Scheme may be unable to adequately comply 
with required administration processes arising from the resolution of the 
Sargeant judgement. This could result in legal breaches reportable to 
the Pensions Regulator; incorrect pension entitlements being calculated 
for pensioners; and loss of credibility with scheme members and the 
employer.

The main mitigation for dealing with this risk is through providing early 
communication to the scheme employer of the information that is 
required to address Sargeant. Consequently the Officers will be 
monitoring announcements from the Fire Scheme Advisory Board and 
informing the employer at the earliest opportunity.

 Removed Risk: Timeliness of Breach Reporting

The risk register has previously included a risk that escalation of 
employer breaches (including the reporting of breaches to the Regulator) 
are not conducted in a timely manner.

This risk was originally included in the register as a result of an LGPS 
employer accruing several months of pension contributions due to the 
Fund before being reported to the Regulator by the Fund. The employer 
eventually became insolvent with the outstanding pensions contributions 
being paid by its guarantor.

19



The Scheme has reviewed lessons from this case and introduced 
processes to monitor and report breaches to the Local Pension Board.

It is now considered that the processes in place adequately mitigate this 
risk and consequently it is recommended that this is removed from the 
risk register.

 Risk ref 1.1: Information Security Arrangements

Information security controls within the Council have strengthened and 
have been independently assessed in the following 3 areas:

 GDPR: ‘Substantial Assurance’ - Internal Audit opinion June 2019
 Cyber Security: ‘Reasonable Assurance’ - Internal Audit opinion 

June 2019
 PSN: Annual independent PSN Accreditation confirmed July 2019

This risk, the highest ranked on the risk register, is of particular interest 
to the Local Pension Board. Consequently there is a presentation on the 
data system security within YPS at the end of this meeting.
 
The Fund scores the risk for Information Security Arrangements as per 
those recorded in the Corporate Risk Register. Therefore the likelihood 
of a significant information security incident occurring has been retained 
at a score of 3 out of 5 defined as “possible”. The potential implications 
of this risk occurring remains at the highest risk score of 5 “most severe”.

5.0 SCHEME MONITORING

Actuarial Valuation and Funding Position

5.1 As previously reported, the draft results of the 2016 valuation showed that 
the cost cap floor has been breached (i.e. costs are more than 2% lower 
than the 16.8% of pensionable earnings cost target set out in the 2015 
firefighter scheme regulations).  Under normal circumstances this would 
result in action being taken (e.g. improving member benefits) to bring the 
cost back up to within the target cost range.  

5.2 However, as also previously reported, this action was paused in January 
2019 following a ruling by the Court of Appeal on two cases (Sargeant and 
McCloud).  The cases related to ‘transitional protections’ in public service 
pension schemes which applied on the introduction of the new career 
average public sector pension schemes in 2015.  In the case of the FPS this 
is the protections in the 2015 Scheme which allowed certain members to 
have benefits calculated under the 1992 and 2006 Schemes.  Following 
consideration of the cases the Court ruled that these changes discriminated 
against a group of firefighters and a group of judges on the grounds of age.

5.3 In response to the ruling the Government applied to the Supreme Court for 
permission to appeal and, on 27th June 2019, the application was denied.  
Subsequent to this the matter has been considered by an Employment 

20



Tribunal and, in December 2019, the Employment Tribunal issued an Interim 
Order. The Order addresses immediate issues which arise before a Final 
Declaration is issued and is binding on Fire and Rescue Authorities for the 
limited interim period until the final declaration is issued. 

5.4 The Order in effect provides that, pending the final determination of all of the 
remedy issues, those that brought claims in England and Wales (see 5.4.1 
below regarding ’non-claimants’) are entitled to be treated as if they 
remained in the in 1992 FPS.  It anticipates that the final determination of the 
remedy regarding to membership of the 1992 FPS should be resolved 
around mid-July 2020. However, it should be noted that even when the final 
determination on this issue is published it may be some time before this part 
of the remedy can be put into effect for all claimants (as reflected in the new 
risk detailed at 4.3 of this report). In addition to this there may be other 
issues relating to remedies to be resolved, for example claims for injury to 
feelings. 

5.5 The Order only covers the existing claimants in England and Wales, all of 
whom were in the 1992 FPS. It does not cover those who did not bring 
claims (non-claimants). However, discussions are taking place on how to 
provide a remedy for those non-claimants as appropriate.

5.6 The LGA has noted that guidance on the implementation of the interim order 
is awaited from the Home Office.  Pending the guidance the LGA advises 
that “FRAs should take no immediate steps save that if they are dealing with 
ill-health retirements, to avoid delay, they should ask the IQMP to assess the 
applicant under both the 1992 FPS and 2015 FPS rules. They should also 
identify all applications for ill-health retirements on the 2015 FPS since 1 
April 2015, so they are in a position to take steps once [the LGA has] Home 
Office guidance.” 

5.7 In the interim the Home Office has noted that Technical discussions will be 
held with the FSAB. These discussions will consider changes to the scheme 
which are necessary:
 in order to remove discriminatory provisions from the public service 

pension schemes for non-claimants; and
 to ensure individuals can keep benefits they have accrued regardless of 

changes needed to remove discrimination, for example if they would have 
been better off in the new scheme.

Following these discussions, the Government will formally consult on its 
proposals, providing a further opportunity for input.  This will progress 
alongside the remedy directed by the Tribunals in the Sargeant case.  

5.8 YPS are fully sighted on the matter and we are working with them to ensure 
that appropriate action is taken in response to the Interim Order.  In addition 
to this officers and YPS continue to monitor the situation and will report back 
to the Board on any significant further developments.  

5.9 Officers will provide the Board with a verbal update if there are any 
significant developments between the publication of this paper and this 
meeting.

21



YPS Performance 

5.10 To allow members of the Board to perform effective governance and 
oversight of the Fund Administration, the quarterly performance report from 
YPS for the period to 30th September 2019 has been attached at Appendix 
2. 

5.11 The Scheme and YPS have agreed to review the performance indicators 
used to assess performance of the pensions administration service. This will 
ensure that the performance is assessed by focussing on customer 
experience thereby “putting the customer at the heart of everything we do”.  
Whilst these performance indicators are being reviewed, the Scheme and 
YPS have agreed to increase the target performance levels for each of the 
current indicators from 90% to 95% as this more accurately reflects the level 
of service provided by the company and the Scheme’s expectations 
regarding the level of service. 

5.12 During the quarter to 30 September, performance increased to 100% from 
the June quarter level of 98% - exceeding the revised SLA target of 95%. 

5.13 As noted previously, the Fund will continue to provide robust scrutiny and 
challenge to the quality of service provided by YPS to ensure that the  
service experienced by scheme members and employers is good, consistent 
and sustainable.

Guaranteed Minimum Pension Reconciliation Update

5.14 As previously reported, all Public Sector Pension Schemes have been 
required by Government to undertake a Scheme Guaranteed Minimum 
Pension (GMP) reconciliation and implement corrective action accordingly. 

5.15 Work on the next phase of GMP reconciliation relating to active members is 
currently underway, with information awaited from HMRC.

Legal breaches recorded / reported during the quarter

5.16 All individuals with a role in the Scheme have a duty to report breaches of 
law when they have reasonable cause to believe that a breach of material 
significance to the Pensions Regulator has taken place. Where a breach is 
not deemed material there is a requirement to record the breach.  

5.17 In line with good governance and the Scheme’s policy and procedure on 
reporting breaches of the law, the Fire Local Pension Board are notified of:-

 all breaches, including those reported to the Pensions Regulator and 
those unreported, with the associated dates;

 in relation to each breach, details of what action was taken and the 
result of any action (where not confidential); and

 any future actions for the prevention of the breach in question being 
repeated.

22



5.18 There are no breaches to report for the quarter to 30th September 2019.

Scheme Discretions 

5.19 It has not been necessary to exercise any of the Scheme Manager 
discretions during the period. 

5.20 The Local Government Association (LGA) has issued guidance on the 
discretions available under the 1992, 2006 and 2015 Pension Schemes and 
the Compensation Scheme.  Discretions relating to the 2015 Scheme have 
previously been approved. People Management have worked with the Chief 
Fire Officer, as the Scheme Manager, to review the remaining discretions. 

5.21 Work continues on the development of a discretions policy. The Fire Local 
Pensions Board were invited to give feedback on the draft discretions by the 
end of May 2019. No comments were received. Further consultations are 
continuing and a sign off process is underway.

Pension Ombudsman

5.22 A complaint made to the Pension Ombudsman by a CFRS employee was 
received in November 2019.  This complaint was in relation to an accident 
while on duty as an On Call Crew Manager and the subsequent decision to 
offer permanent redeployment and not Ill Health Retirement.  CFRS have 
responded to the complaint, within the deadlines set by the Ombudsman.  
This response detailed the Services position which was that in the Services 
view, the matter had been dealt with in accordance with the appropriate 
pension regulations and employment legislation.  At the time of writing this 
paper the Service awaits further correspondence from the Ombudsman in 
relation to next steps.  Further information will be presented at future 
meetings as and when it arises.  

Pensionable Pay

5.23 As reported at the last meeting, the High Court Judgement in Booth v Mid 
and West Wales FRA; and Mid and West Wales FRA v Bradshaw, 
considered 4 different types of pay and determined whether or not they were 
pensionable. Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service with support from People 
Management and Payroll colleagues are continuing to undertake a review of 
pensionable pay. Officers will provide the Board with a verbal update if there 
are significant developments between the publication of this paper and the 
meeting.

Annual Benefit Statement 2019 Survey

5.24 The Fire Scheme Advisory Board recently issued a survey on the ABS 
process, developed in collaboration with their Local Pension Board 
effectiveness committee.  This has been completed by officers and 
submitted within the 6th January deadline.  Any feedback will be 
communicated to the Board at a future meeting.

23



6.0 POLICY AND REGULATION

Regulatory changes  

6.1 This section of the monitoring report provides a summary for Members on 
recent and proposed future changes to legislation which may impact on the 
Scheme.

 
6.2 To date there has been no further developments in any of the following 

areas:

 Public Sector discretionary exit payment lump sums.
 Public Sector recovery of exit payment regulations (a.k.a. the 

‘clawback’ regulations).

Restricting exit payments in the public sector

6.3 Public Sector Exit Payment Restrictions have been on the Government 
agenda since 2015, and on 10 April 2019 HM Treasury launched a 
consultation and set draft regulations “The Restriction of Public Sector Exit 
Payments Regulations 2019”. The consultation closed on 3rd July, and an 
update will be provided to the Board after the Government have released 
further information.  This is not expected before April 2020.

6.4 Full details of all regulatory changes to the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme are 
available from the Scheme Advisory Board website at: www.fpsboard.org.

7.0 OTHER MATTERS

Members Self Service Update

7.1 The number of FPS members that have enrolled for My Pension Online 
(MPO) as at 30th September 2019 has remained at 40% of all scheme 
members.  

7.2 MPO continues to be promoted for FPS members through the weekly Fire 
Bulletin, and with the support of both the employer and employee 
representative organisations.

Training

7.3 Board Members continue to be notified of relevant training events (internal 
and external) as and when they arise and are encouraged to attend. 
 

7.4 During the quarter a Member attended a Pensions Tax seminar facilitated by 
the Local Government Association (LGA).  They will be hosting their annual 
Fire Conference and Exhibition on 10-11 March, in London.

7.5 Guidance and training material can be accessed by Board Members via the 
link below to the dedicated Fire Local Pension Board Sharepoint site:-
https://extranet.cumbria.gov.uk/CLGPS/ers/FireLPB/default.aspx

24

http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsboard.org/
http://www.fpsboard.org/
https://extranet.cumbria.gov.uk/CLGPS/ers/FireLPB/default.aspx


8.0 OPTIONS

8.1 To either note the performance of the Cumbria Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 
(FPS) to 30th September 2019 and any material policy or governance issues 
and national regulatory changes to 31st December 2019 or request further 
information.

9.0 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Sargeant ruling is expected to result in changes to the Firefighters’ 
Pension Scheme and an increase in the cost of the Scheme.  The full extent 
of these changes and the anticipated increase in costs is not yet known and 
will only become apparent once a final remedy has been determined by the 
employment tribunal.  The Board will continue to be advised of progress with 
this valuation through the Monitoring Reports, specific reports and verbal 
updates to the Board when appropriate.

10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 The report is for the Board to note and there are therefore no direct legal 
implications.

11.0 CONCLUSION

11.1 To ensure good governance the Scheme must have in place a suite of fit for 
purpose policies and risk control procedures. Regular scrutiny by this Board 
will provide challenge and help ensure these stay current and effective.

Julie Crellin 
Director of Finance (s151 Officer)
4th February 2020

APPENDICES

1 Cumbria Fire LPB Risk Register at December 2019
2 YPS Quarterly Performance Report to 30th September 2019

Electoral Division(s): *

Executive Decision No*

Key Decision No*

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A*

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No*

25



N/A*If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

No*Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

No*Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

No*Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

None

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact:
Alison Clark, Senior Manager - Pensions & Financial Services 
01228 226279
Finance Directorate
alison.clark2@cumbria.gov.uk

Gill Welbourn, Technical Finance Officer - Pensions
01228 226279
Finance Directorate
gill.welbourn@cumbria.gov.uk

26

mailto:alison.clark2@cumbria.gov.uk


Appendix 1

RISKS  Q1 Q2 Target DOT CORPORATE RISK PROFILE
(Risk Score = Likelihood x Impact)

1 1.1. Information security arrangements 15 15 10

2 1.2. Pensions administration processes 12 12 6

3 1.3. Scheme member communication 4 4 4

4 1.4. Data quality 6 6 3

5 1.5. Payment of contributions 8 8 8

6 1.6 Sargeant Judgement n/a 12 9 NEW

7 2.1. Pension Regulator Intervention 5 5 5

8 2.2. Regulatory changes 8 8 8

9 2.3. Financial irregularity 6 6 6

10 2.4 Loss of key personnel 4 4 4

11 2.5. Conflicts of Interest 4 4 4

12 2.6 Operational disaster 4 4 4

Impact

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Most severe

5
Very 

Likely
4

Likely
1.2; 1.6

3
Possible

2.3 1.1

2
Unlikely

1.3; 2.4; 
2.5

1.4 1.5; 2.2

1
Very 

unlikely

2.6 2.1

Summary of risk changes 
since last quarter 

Emerging Risks 

 A risk associated with complying 
with the expected administrative 
requirements arising from the 
Sargeant judgement has been 
added to the register.

 A risk associated with the 
timeliness of breach reporting 
has been removed from the risk 
register due to appropriate 
systems and processes being in 
place within the Pensions Team.

 No change in the quarter to 
scores attributed to the likelihood 
or severity of risks occurring.

 No change in the quarter to 
scores attributed to the 
likelihood or severity of 
risks occurring

 There continues to be an emerging 
risk related to the as yet unknown 
implications of Sargeant on the 
liabilities and the impact this may 
have on employer contributions in 
the future. This risk is being 
managed through the valuation 
process and does not warrant a 
separate risk on the register.

27



Appendix 1

CUMBRIA FIREFIGHTERS’ PENSION BOARD RISK REGISTER (June 2019)
1. Scheme Administration

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

(Impact x Likelihood)

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

1.1 Scheme 
Manager 
& YPS

Senior 
Manager 

Information Security 
Arrangements

There is a risk that the 
Council will experience a 
significant information 
security incident.

Caused by a concerted 
cyber attack on Council or 
YPS systems, inadequate 
information security 
arrangements, lack of 
training, awareness or 
human error.
 
Resulting in partial or total 
interruption to service 
delivery to scheme 
members, the scheme 
employer, Scheme Officers 
or YPS. 

Disclosure of personal data 
or  a data breach leading to 
financial penalties, liability 
claims and reputational 
damage  

15
(5x3)

DOT

10
(5x2)

Cumbria County Council (CCC) – Corporate Risk

 The County Council maintains a detailed corporate 
risk register including the risk associated with 
Information Security Arrangements.

 The Scheme adheres to the controls and measures 
in place detailed within the Corporate Risk Register.

 All staff within the team have completed the GDPR 
& Information Security e-learning training which is 
renewed on an annual basis. All Members have 
received training on information security.

 The Scheme Manager is compliant with the 
requirements of GDPR.

 Any data breaches by officers within the scheme 
are reported through the Council’s data breach 
processes and also recorded on the Scheme’s 
breach register.

 In the event of systems being interrupted, the 
Council will implement the relevant Business 
Continuity Plan to ensure service continuity in a 
timely manner.

 Information security controls within the Council have 
strengthened and have been independently 
assessed in the following three areas:
o GDPR: ‘Substantial Assurance’ Internal Audit 

opinion June 2019.
o Cyber Security: ‘Reasonable Assurance’ Internal 

Audit opinion June 2019.
o PSN: Annual Independent PSN Accreditation 

Cumbria County Council 

 The Scheme adheres and, where appropriate, 
contributes to the planned improvements to controls 
and measures of the Council to manage the risk.

 The Audit & Assurance Committee undertook a 
review of the wider Council’s mitigating actions 
relating to the risk of cyber-crime in Jan 2018. The 
long term objective is to reduce the likelihood of a 
cyber crime event taking place and impacting onto 
the Council and thereby the pension scheme. 

 The breach register will continue to be reviewed to 
consider any areas where the scheme can improve 
internal controls.

 The risk register will continue to be updated to 
ensure consistency with the overarching Council 
approach.

 The Council ensures staff are appropriately trained 
and aware of data security.  For example, the 
Council held its annual Information Security Week 
in November to provide an opportunity to share 
important messages about key aspects of 
information security, including data protection and 
records management. 

Your Pension Service (YPS): 
 YPS are continually reviewing system security and 

any updates will be included on future risk registers 
presented to the Board. 

28



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

confirmed July 2019.

Your Pension Service (YPS): 
 Cyber security risks and controls in place
 Services are backed up to tape every night and held 

off site.  Disaster Recovery Plan is tested twice 
yearly.

 Networks protected by fire walls to prevent 
unauthorised access. Intrusion Prevention Systems 
in place and penetration tests completed annually. 

 The Fire Local Pension Board in February 2020 will 
be receiving a presentation after their meeting on 
data security systems within YPS. 

1.2 Scheme 
Manager 
& YPS

Senior 
Manager

Pension Administration 
Processes

There is a risk of delays in 
scheme members entering 
into pension or receiving 
other services from the 
scheme in an untimely 
manner.  

Caused by organisational 
restructure within YPS & 
personnel changes and the 
need for retraining.
  
Resulting in customer 
dissatisfaction with the 
service.

12
(3x4)

DOT

6
(3x2)

Formal agreement in place with Lancashire County 
Council for the discharge of pension administration 
functions through the Local Pensions Partnership (LPP). 
This confirms Lancashire will exercise the same skill, 
care and diligence they would apply to the discharge of 
their own functions in relation to the administration of 
pensions.

Formal quarterly meetings of YPS and Cumbria 
pensions officers to review and consider standards of 
service provision against YPS internal KPIs. Regular (at 
least quarterly meeting) of operational group and 
ongoing dialogue with officers at YPS throughout the 
year. LPP host an annual Client Forum providing 
officers the opportunity to engage with representatives 
from other Funds with LPP as their pensions 
administrator.

Internal audit assurance is provided annually by 
Lancashire County Council that internal controls with 
YPS over the operation and administration of Cumbria 

Officers continue to closely review YPS performance 
specifically with regard to the experience received by 
scheme members. 

The most recent Performance report showed 
performance levels of 100% against a 95% target. 

Whilst concerns remain as to the quality of service 
delivery and member experience, the likelihood of this 
risk occurring has remained at “4” (likely). This will be 
kept under review throughout the rest of 2019/20 or until 
quality is considered to be adequately addressed. 

29



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

Fire Service Pension Scheme data are adequate and 
effective.

YPS also maintain their own Internal Audit programme 
and advise Officers of the findings of these reports.

1.3 Scheme 
Manager 
& YPS

Senior 
Manager

Scheme Member  
Communication 

There is a risk that scheme 
members will not receive 
appropriate or effectively   
communications from the 
scheme manager.

Caused by not having an 
effective Communication 
Strategy in place or 
engagement strategy or 
inaccurate / incomplete 
data

Resulting in customer 
dissatisfaction and non- 
compliance with the 
Pension Regulators Code 
of Practice 14. 

4
(2x2) 

DOT

4
(2x2) 

YPS provide the Scheme’s communication with scheme 
members. 

The ‘My Pension On-Line’ (MPO) tool is a key 
mechanism through which YPS communicates with 
members and work is ongoing to increase the 
percentage of members signing up to this.

YPS introduced a revised version of MPO in April 2019, 
following end-user testing by officers within the LGPS.  
This will have greater compatibility with android and 
iPhones.  

YPS have confirmed that 100% of ABS’s were issued in 
advance of the statutory deadline of 31st August 2019.

The Scheme’s Data Improvement Plan (presented 
elsewhere on this agenda), details that all standard 
correspondence from YPS is being reviewed by the 
scheme officers and assessed for readability and 
comprehension. Where appropriate improvements will 
be recommended to YPS.   Dependent upon the results 
of this review, this exercise may be repeated for the 
FPS.

An update on this review will be presented to a future 
meeting of the Fire Local Pension Board.

MPO is promoted by the Scheme Manager and YPS to 
attempt to increase take up of this self-serve pensions 
tool.

1.4 Scheme 
Manager

Senior 
Manager

Data Quality

There is a risk that member 
data is incomplete or 
inaccurate.

6

(3 x 2)

3

(3 x 1)

Internal audit work undertaken on YPS controls to 
provide assurance that internal controls over the 
operation and administration Cumbria’s data are 
adequate and effective (annually).

Data review has been conducted and a data 
improvement plan is presented to the Board elsewhere 
on this agenda. Progress against the Improvement Plan 
will be reported as a standing item to each Board 
meeting.

30



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

This could be caused by 
poor internal controls within 
the scheme and the 
employer with information 
not being passed to YPS in 
a timely manner. 

This could result in having 
an impact on the 
production of Annual 
Benefit Statements for 
scheme members.

DOT Monthly reconciliation of employer contributions to data 
submitted by the employer.

Quarterly YPS key performance indicators includes 
measures of timeliness of update of records.

The scheme reported data quality in excess of 99% for 
common data and over 93% for scheme-specific data to 
the Pension Regulator in November 2018 (a result in 
line with other Firefighters’ Pension schemes).

Employer responsibilities are reinforced by officers 
through a range of communication channels with the 
employee/scheme member.

A Data improvement plan has been developed and is 
being presented elsewhere on this agenda (it is a 
standing item on the agenda of meetings of the Fire 
Local Pension Board).

The Data Improvement Plan includes a data tracing 
exercise to review the addresses of all deferred 
members and attempt to trace active members and 
pensioners where an accurate address is not currently 
held.

The Plan also notes a report received from the 
Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) noting 
actions to be taken to address data quality ahead of the 
2020 scheme valuation.

1.5 Scheme 
Employer 
& 
Scheme 
Manager

Senior 
Manager

Payment of contributions

There is a risk that 
employer fails to pay 
contributions (or the correct 
level of contributions) into 
the scheme.

This could be caused by 
employer error, business 
failure or the general 
impact of increases in 
employer contribution rates

8

(4 x 2)

DOT

8

(4 x 2)

Monthly monitoring and reconciliation of contribution 
payments is undertaken by Scheme Manager to ensure 
contributions received are timely and accurate. This 
reconciliation is considered as part of the annual audit 
process.

Monitoring and reconciliation of contributions continue 
to be undertaken monthly and a full reconciliation is 
completed and checked as part of the year end process.

31



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

This could constitute a 
breach reportable to the 
Pensions Regulator.

1.6 Scheme 
Employer 
& 
Scheme 
Manager

Senior 
Manager

Sargeant Judgement

There is a risk that the 
Scheme is unable to 
adequately comply with 
required administration 
processes arising from the 
resolution of the Sargeant 
judgement. 

This could be caused by 
employer not having 
historic employment data 
for affected members; YPS 
not having appropriate 
resource to undertake the 
work; the Scheme having 
insufficiently capacity to 
adequately review the 
results; or insufficient 
budget to fund the required 
project work.

This could result in legal 
breaches reportable to the 
Pensions Regulator; 
incorrect pension 
entitlements being 
calculated for pensioners; 
and loss of credibility with 

12

(3 x 4)

New 
Risk

9

(3 x 3)

This is an emerging risk and the Scheme will be 
monitoring announcements from the Fire Scheme 
Advisory Board as to additional information required 
from the employer and additional workstreams for the 
Scheme and YPS.

The Scheme will be discussing this emerging issue with 
YPS through its usual monitoring meetings and will be 
making preparations for managing the additional 
workloads. This is likely to have an impact on the 
Pensions Administration budget however it is not 
expected that any material additional costs will be 
incurred until 2020/21.

The Scheme is currently reviewing announcements 
related to Sargeant to try to assess the scale and scope 
of additional work. 

The Scheme will be working closely with YPS to identify 
what additional workload is required. 

Planned improvements will be reported to the Fire Local 
Pension Board when there is greater clarity as to what 
is required from the Scheme.32



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

scheme members and 
employer.

33



Appendix 1

2. Governance & Regulation

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

(Impact x Likelihood)

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

2.1 Scheme 
Manager

Senior 
Manager 

Pension Regulator 
Intervention

There is a risk that the 
Scheme commits a serious 
regulatory breach 

This could be caused by 
the Scheme failing to 
advise the Regulator of 
regulatory matter (e.g. 
reporting a breach, 
submitting the Scheme 
Return) or failing to 
implement new regulations.

This could result in a 
detrimental effect to the 
service being provided to 
scheme members and the 
employer. It could also 
result in serious 
reputational implications for 
the Scheme Manager and 
potentially a financial 
penalty.

5
(5x1)

DOT

5
(5x1)

The Scheme is appropriately resourced with well trained 
and knowledgeable staff who understand their 
regulatory obligations to the Pensions Regulator and 
other statutory bodies.

The Senior Manager ensures that staff take the time to 
consider upcoming deadlines and prioritise workloads 
accordingly.

The Scheme has good contacts with other Scheme 
Managers, the LGA, CIPFA and other bodies to ensure 
that it is aware of changing regulations and their impact 
to the Scheme.

The Fire Local Pension Board is advised on new 
regulations and emerging issues at each meeting. 

The Pension Regulator is maintaining a focus on all 
Public Sector pension schemes and is beginning to levy 
its first fines for failure to meet regulatory obligations. 
The Pension Regulator has also noted that it will be 
more proactive in enforcing regulations in the future.

Officers will continue to “horizon scan” to understand 
emerging issues that may have an impact on the future 
of the Scheme. Where appropriate, the Fire Local 
Pension Board will continue to be appraised of any 
emerging issues. 

The Scheme undertakes an annual assessment of 
training needs of each Member.  The results of this 
assessment inform the Training Plan for the Scheme. 

Officers will arrange for high quality training to be 
available to all members Fire Local Pension Board 
throughout the year to ensure that Members have the 
appropriate skills and knowledge to take informed 
decisions at each meeting.

2.2 Scheme 
Manager

Senior 

Regulatory Changes

There is a risk that the 
Scheme is mandated to 

8 8
Officers of the Scheme Manager respond to 
government consultations where relevant to help 
influence policy.

Officers of the Scheme Manager will continue to monitor 
the regulatory environment to be aware of any potential 
changes to the scheme. 

34



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

Manager change the benefits 
payable under the Scheme 
or other such regulatory 
change.

This may be caused by 
government policy or 
amendments to 
regulations.

This may result in the 
costing of the scheme 
being affected which could 
materially impact employer 
contributions.

(4 x 2)

DOT

(4 x 2)  
Where relevant, the Scheme Manager will support 
lobbying or lobby directly to ensure that its voice is 
heard in the development of national policy.

Officers within the Scheme ensure that they are aware 
of impending amendments to regulations and advise the 
Fire Local Pension Board (and, where relevant, the 
employer and scheme members) in a timely way as to 
any amendments and their impact to the Scheme.

Where appropriate, officers will draft responses to 
consultations affecting the Scheme and consult with the 
Chair of the Fire Local Pension Board before 
submission.

2.3 Scheme 
Manager

Senior 
Manager

Financial Irregularity

There is a risk of fraud, 
fraudulent behaviour, or 
unintentional 
overpayments. 
This may be caused by 
fraudulent activity or 
misunderstanding.

Failure to address financial 
irregularity may result in a 
financial loss to the 
Scheme Manager or 
employer, as well as 
reputational damage to the 
Council.

6

(2 x 3)

DOT

6

(2 x 3)

Fraudulent Activity – Active participation in the 
National Fraud Initiative reduces likelihood of 
unidentified deaths and fraudulent pension claims.

Segregation of duties and a delegated scheme of 
authority minimises the risk of fraud within the Scheme.

Unintentional overpayments – The NFI activity may 
identify overpayments where no fraudulent activity has 
arisen but a benefactor has unintentionally benefited 
from the Scheme, e.g. payments continuing to be made 
to a widow(er) following the death of their partner. In 
such instances officers act compassionately.

Officers conducted a review of data from the National 
Fraud Initiative in 2018, there were no cases requiring 
further investigation. 

35



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

2.4 Scheme 
Manager

Senior 
Manager

Loss of key personnel

There is a risk that the 
scheme manager may lose 
key personnel.

This risk could be caused 
by staff retiring, moving on 
or otherwise being on long-
term absence.

This could result in an 
erosion of skills and 
knowledge within the 
scheme manager.

4

(2 x 2)

DOT

4

(2 x 2)

The Scheme Manager is appropriately resourced and 
has effective arrangements in place to cover for short 
term absence. Managers consider succession planning 
for key staff within the team.

A comprehensive skills needs assessment is 
undertaken for all Officers and Members of the Fire 
Local Pension Board on a regular basis and a training 
plan developed to address any areas for improvement.

The Scheme Manager will continue to consider 
succession planning arrangements in the event of loss 
of key personnel.

An internal appointment within the team has given 
scope to help mitigate this risk.

The training plan is approved by the Board.

2.5 Scheme 
Manager 

Senior 
Manager

Conflicts of interest

There is a risk that conflicts 
of interest in the 
governance of the Scheme 
may detrimentally affect 
decision making.

This could be caused by 
those involved with the 
governance of the Scheme 
being influenced by 
interests outside of the 
Scheme.

This could result in 
decisions being taken that 
are detrimental to the 

4

(2 x 2)

DOT

4

(2 x 2)

Fire Local Pension Board: all members have signed 
up to the Board’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts of 
interest policy (which are aligned to those of the 
Council). At each meeting, members are asked to 
disclose any changes to their situation.

All interests are recorded and published on the 
Council’s website.

If appropriate legal advice can be sought as to any 
potential conflicts of interest within the Scheme.

The existing procedures are considered appropriate to 
mitigate the risk of conflicts of interest but this position 
will be kept under review.

Any potential conflicts of interest are declared at the 
commencement of each meeting and these are 
declarations are included in the minutes of each 
meeting. 

All members of the Fire Local Pension Board are aware 
of how to manage potential conflicts. If there is doubt 
members of the Board may seek advice from the 
respective Chair or the Council’s Monitoring Officer.

  

36



Appendix 1

Risk 
Ref

Risk 
Owner Risk Title & Description 

Current
Risk 

Score
DOT

Target 
Score

Current Controls & Measures in Place Planned Improvements to controls and measures to 
manage the risk 

(Impact x Likelihood)

Scheme Manager or the 
Council.

2.6 Scheme 
Manager 
& YPS

Senior 
Manager

Operational Disaster

There is a risk that an 
operational disaster may 
impact onto the Scheme. 

This could be caused by 
fire / flood / extreme 
weather events etc.
 
This could result in the 
Scheme not being able to 
operate effectively.

4

(4 x 1)

DOT

4

(4 x 1)

CCC: Business continuity procedures are in place for 
the scheme manager (CCC). These are tested 
corporately on a regular basis in accordance with CCC 
policies and procedures.

Where weaknesses are identified, these are addressed 
appropriately in order to improve the Scheme’s 
preparedness for operational disaster.

Administration (YPS):
YPS have business continuity procedures in place for 
Pensions administration. These are reviewed by 
Lancashire County Council’s emergency planning 
services which provide a QA function by in respect of 
individual service plans.

The existing procedures are considered appropriate to 
mitigate the risk of operational disaster but this position 
will be kept under review. 

Note: An upward arrow on the Direction of Travel represents an increase in the risk score since the previous quarter – hence either the potential impact or 
the likelihood of the risk occurring has increased.

Similarly, a downward arrow on the Direction of Travel represents a decrease in the risk score since the previous quarter – hence either the potential impact or 
the likelihood of the risk occurring has decreased.

37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA 
PENSION FUND

Quarterly
Performance 
Report
1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019

TSC OCTOBER 2019

39



1. INTRODUCTION

2. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS
LGPS
Service Level Agreements
The SLA performance reported in this document is based on the types of cases detailed below.  However, 
LPP also process other case types for members of the scheme which are outlined in the SLA or are critical 
to providing the pensions administration service. Overall performance against all case types was 97%.

Due CompletedAnnual Plan – 2019/20
Event    Responsibility Your Pension Service (YPS)

Application of Pension 
Increases

Issue Annual Benefit 
Statement to Active Members

Issue Annual Benefit 
Statement to Def Members

Issue P60s and Newsletter
to Pensioners

Issue Newsletter to
Active Members

Complete HMRC Scheme 
Returns

Provide IAS19 data

Produce annual allowance 
information in line with 
HMRC deadline 

2

This report sets out the performance of Your Pension Service against agreed targets.  This report 
covers the period 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019.

40



3

   SLAcompleted

Cases Within
  SLA

Bf & Rec

Cases

625 529 523 95%

924 483 459 95%95% 441

450 250 246 95%98% 200

48 48 48 95%100% 0

189 167 167 95%100% 22

311 223 220 95%99% 88

457 187 186 95%99% 270

1,478 735 692 95%94% 743

191 183 183 95%100% 8

5,202 3,207 3,121 97% 1,995

529 402 397 95%99% 127

Performance  
Standard

Estimate benefits within  
10 working days

Payment of retirement benefits 
within 10 working days   

Implement change in 
pensioner circumstance by 
payment due date   

Payment of death 
benefits within 10 working 
days  

Respond to general  
correspondence within  
10 working days of receipt   

Action transfers out within 
15 working days  

Action transfers in within 
10 working days   

Pay refunds 
within 10 working 
days   

Provide leaver statement 
within 15 days  

Amend personal 
records within 10 
working days    

LGPS
Cases ongoing

Target

Target Hit                       Target Miss

96

% Within
99%

Please see table below for a breakdown of cases outstanding:
 Payment of Payment of Total of
Reason Retirement Benefits Death Benefits Cases Ongoing
In progress (LPP can progress) 176 93 1,242
Awaiting member 210 53 316
Awaiting employer 42 13 279
Awaiting third party 13 41 158

Total 441 200 1,995

Caseload and Performance Levels:

41



4

   SLA
% WithinCases

completed

Cases ongoing

Within
  SLA

Cases
Bf & Rec

Teachers (Pensioners) 

In summary 50 individual calculations/enquiries were completed during the period and 50 met 
the performance standard; an overall performance of 100% was achieved.

62

2

9

73

40

2

8

50

40

2

8

50

100%

100%

100%

95%

95%

95%

22

0

1

23

Performance  
Standard

Payment of death benefits 
within 10 working days

Implement change in 
pensioner circumstance by 
payment due date   

Respond to pensioner 
correspondence within  
10 working days of 
receipt    

Target

100%

Target Hit

Target Miss

Cases processed and performance standards for Teachers and Fire are shown on the following 
pages.

Caseload and Performance Levels:

42



5

Target Hit

Target Miss

5,636

% Within   SLA  SLA
Within

Cases
Bf & Rec

28 16 100% 95%

Performance  
Standard

Estimate benefits within  
10 working days 

11 7 7 100% 95% 4

11 6 6 100% 95% 5

1 1 1 100% 95% 0

12 10 10 100% 95% 2

8 5 5 100% 95% 3

116 74 74 100% 42

13 10 10 100% 95% 3

Payment of death benefits 
within 10 working days  

Payment of retirement 
benefits within 10 working 
days  

Implement change in 
pensioner circumstance by 
payment due date   

Respond to general 
correspondence within  
10 working days of receipt   

Action transfers out 
within 15 working 
days   

Amend personal 
records within  
10 working days 

Provide leaver statement 
within 15 days

Fire (Old and New Scheme)

In summary 74 individual calculations/enquiries were completed during the  
period and 74 met the performance standard; an overall performance of  
100% was achieved. 

32 19 19 100% 95% 13

Cases ongoing

Target
Cases
completed

Target Hit

Target Miss

16 12

Caseload and Performance Levels:

43



3. MEMBERSHIP
The tables below show details of membership under administration as of 30 June 2019 and 
30 September 2019.

6

 

     

Membership
at

30.09.2019

      Active 16,150

      Deferred 25,174

      Pensioner 16,624

      Total 57,948

LGPS  Q2
Net

Changes

-130

+ 63

+247

+180

Membership
at

30.06.2019

As at 30 September 2019, there were 3,094 pending leavers within the fund, and of those we 
have received 730 leaver forms. The membership numbers above assume that all the pending 
leavers will become deferred members once the records have been updated.

16,280

25,111

16,377

57,768

44



My Pension Online

Total membership currently signed up to My Pension Online

LGPS

 March % of September % of
 2019 membership 2019 membership

Active  6,818 41% 7,131 44%

Deferred 5,626 22%  5,684  23%

Pensioner 6,498 40% 6,848 41%

Total 18,942 33% 19,663 34%

FIRE

 March % of September % of
 2019 membership 2019 membership

Active  173 34% 169 31%

Deferred 85 27%  102  30%

Pensioner 276 56% 282 56%

Total 534 40% 553 40%

7
45



8

Pensioner

TOTAL  MEMBERSHIP

31
 March 2019

30 Septem
ber 20191,447

1,447

1,412

1,412

Teachers

31

 March 2019

 

 

Active

Deferred

Pensioner
TOTAL MEMBERSHIP

30 Septem
ber 2019514 537

320 344

495
508

1,329
1,389

Fire

31

 March 2019

 

 

Active

Deferred

Pensioner
TOTAL MEMBERSHIP

30 Septem
ber 201916,453 16,150

25,202 25,174

16,185
16,624

57,840
57,948

LGPS

46



9

4. COMMUNICATIONS
Engagement 
Communications are delivered by the Engagement Team, they are the link between Your Pension 
Service, scheme members and employers.

Employers 
Employer engagement activity for 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019

Scheme member 
Member engagement activity for 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019

Activity  Numbers Delivered

Stall Holder  3

Activity  Numbers Delivered

Employer Visit   2

ESS Training   1

47



10

The compliments received related to the helpful, 
friendly and professional service provided by the staff 
within Your Pension Service. 

A high proportion of the complaints related to delays 
in the payment of benefits and not meeting the 
member’s expectations.

5. CUSTOMER SERVICE 
Retirement Experience

This section looks at the number of new retirees during 
the quarter and an average measure of the number 
of working days between the retirement date and first 
payment date to the member.

Average 63 days  
to payment
of pension

326 new  
pensioners

Compliments/Complaints

3 compliments 15 complaints

Customer Satisfaction Surveys
Customer surveys are used to measure satisfaction following interaction with the service. Results 
for the period 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019 are shown below: 

Overall
Rating

Overall
RatingRetirement Experience - LG

Number of respondents 15 16 5 5 11

Percentage of respondents 29% 31% 10% 10% 21% Average

Retirement Experience - Fire

Number of respondents 1 0 0 0 0

Percentage of respondents 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% Satisfied

The below results are for Cumbria Fire and Rescue members members with a response rate of 14.28%: 

Retirement Survey The below results are for LGPS Cumbria members with a response rate of 40%: 

48



11

Contact Centre

The dedicated Contact Centre is the first point of contact for both scheme members and 
employers. Over the period 98% of LGPS and 92% of Fire calls were successfully answered 
against a target of 90%. Call wait time commences from when the call is connected. 

Cumbria LGPS 

Total Calls answered  3,190

Connect Rate  98%

Call Waiting (Max)  00:11:07

Call Waiting (Avg)  00:01:27

Cumbria Fire 

Total Calls answered  129

Connect Rate  92%

Call Waiting (Max)  00:12:54

Call Waiting (Avg)  00:02:18

Call Category

Cumbria LGPS 

General Enquiries  2,767

Pensions Online and P60 423

Cumbria Fire 

General Enquiries  111

Pensions Online and P60 18

49



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                                                              

CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD 

Meeting date: 4th February 2020

From: Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer)

CUMBRIA FIREFIGHTERS’ PENSION SCHEME (FPS) DATA 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Whilst it is considered that the Cumbria FPS’s data is of a good 
standard, developing and maintaining a data improvement plan and 
continually striving to improve data quality is considered to be good 
practice.

1.2 Your Pension Service (YPS) carried out a review of data in October 
2018 specifically looking at items that the Pensions Regulator refers to 
as ‘common and specific data’ and this assessment indicated over 99% 
of common data and over 93% of scheme specific data was present 
and accurate. 

1.3 Retaining good quality data within the Scheme is paramount to 
ensuring effective governance and administration of members’ pension 
records.  In January 2019 a data improvement plan was developed to 
further improve the quality of data across the Scheme.  This report 
updates the Board on progress made delivering against this plan 
during the quarter and is presented at Appendix 1.

1.4 The report concludes that good progress is being made with the 
actions detailed in the data improvement plan.

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 Robust governance arrangements, including measures to ensure the 
Scheme holds good quality data, help to ensure good management of 
the Scheme ensuring member benefits are paid correctly and on time. 

2.2 The Council’s vision is to be “A Council that works with residents, 
businesses, communities and other organisations to deliver the best 

51

Agenda Item 8



services possible within the available resources”. As part of the 
approach to delivering this vision the Council aims to “Put customers 
at the heart of everything we do”.

2.3 Maintaining accurate and up to date data is a legal requirement through 
the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). Additionally, in 
putting customers at the heart of everything we do, the FPS should 
strive to ensure that information held on members of the scheme is 
accurate and complete to ensure that pension payments can be made 
when they become due.

2.4 There are no specific equality implications arising out of the 
recommendations of this report.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The Board is recommended to note the report and the data quality 
improvement plan.

4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 The Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice 14 detailing the governance and 
administration of public sector pension schemes notes under section 138 
that “Schemes should continually review their data and carry out a data 
review exercise at least annually. This should include an assessment of the 
accuracy and completeness of the member information held”.

4.2 Data quality within the Cumbria Scheme is reviewed continually throughout 
the year.  This report first updates the Board on data quality within the 
Scheme and then details progress against the actions within the Data 
Improvement Plan (presented as Appendix 1 to this report).

Member Tracing

4.3 The main factor contributing to missing “common data” from the Scheme 
Return completed in October 2018 relates to the Scheme not having an 
accurate or complete address for scheme members. Whilst the number of 
scheme members known to have incomplete addresses held for them by the 
Scheme, as previously reported to the Board, was very low (originally 20 
members of the Cumbria FPS), the Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice 14 
provides specific guidance relating to data quality which is set out at section 
208 of the Code. This notes that “Schemes should attempt to make contact 
with their scheme members and, where contact is not possible, schemes 
should carry out a tracing exercise to locate the member and ensure that 
their member data are up-to-date.”

4.4 In February 2019 the Scheme engaged Target Professional Services Ltd 
(“Target”), a data tracing agency, to attempt to verify the correct addresses 
of the active and pensioners that were incomplete.  This exercise has now 
been extended to include all deferred members of the Cumbria FPS, 

52



involving 229 members. Whilst the process is still ongoing, there are only 25 
members remaining to have their current addresses traced. 

4.5 Ten of the outstanding deferred members are aged 50 or over and the DWP 
tracing service has been used in order to trace them. A response from the 
DWP on the cases is currently awaited. Two members thought to be living 
overseas were written to and asked for up to date contact details but no 
response has been received from these members so far. Four members 
were written to at their address shown on the Electoral Register and two of 
these members have confirmed their current addresses. Of the remaining 11 
members, all are aged 45 and under and will be assessed on a case by case 
and value for money basis. 

4.6 The outcome for these members will be reported to a future meeting of the 
Board.  

National Fraud Initiative:

4.7 The National Fraud Initiative (NFI) is a compulsory exercise carried out 
every two years that matches electronic data within and between public and 
private sector bodies to prevent and detect fraud. These bodies include the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) police authorities, local probation 
boards, fire and rescue authorities as well as local councils and a number of 
private sector bodies. By using data matching/analytics to compare different 
datasets across these organisations, the NFI is able to identify potentially 
fraudulent claims and overpayments.

4.8 It is important to note that a match does not automatically mean a fraud has 
been committed. There may be an explanation for a data match that prompts 
the Scheme to update its records and/or improve its systems.

4.9 For Cumbria FPS the 2018 NFI exercise did not identify any scheme 
members that had died without the Scheme being aware of it. The next data 
set from the NFI is scheduled to be received in 2020.

4.10 Whilst the Scheme will not tolerate any fraudulent activity, it is recognised 
that overpayments may have been made in error and to vulnerable older 
people. Officers will treat these cases compassionately whilst still aiming to 
protect the assets of the Scheme.

Government Actuary Department (GAD) 2016 Valuation Data:

4.11 In September 2019, GAD released a high level summary of data issues for 
Cumbria from the 2016 valuation of the Scheme. The report noted that data 
for deferred members had very few issues and that all pensioner records 
were able to be included in the review. However, GAD excluded 11% of 
active member records with the main reason being related to pay or service 
data. 

4.12 Members discussed this issue at the October Board meeting and agreed 
further investigations would be progressed with YPS. This has revealed that 
the validation error related to a number of new retained starters in the 2015 
scheme who had correctly been put straight into the CARE scheme, a note 

53



had been included in the submission to that effect. The validation was 
looking for Final Salary data points (of which there were none); i.e. the error 
was a false one – the underlying data was correct for that type of record, it 
was a fault in the validation.

4.13 Whilst FPSs are not able to approach GAD direct, YPS have now 
progressed this issue with the officers at the Fire Scheme Advisory Board 
who will raise the issue with the Home Office on our behalf. The aim is for 
improvements to be made to the validation process to ensure correct 
records are not incorrectly highlighted as being outside expected tolerances.

4.14 Separately GAD have asked for feedback on the 2020 valuation draft data 
specification, YPS have looked at this and have included in their response 
that the validation in the data submission spreadsheet needs to be correct 
and any explanatory comments should be noted. YPS have agreed to 
provide an update when one is received.

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR):

4.15 The Scheme considers itself to be compliant with GDPR regulations 
however it is recognised that compliance is an ongoing duty and is not 
complacent as to its obligations to continue to adhere to this legislation.

4.16 All personal data held by the Scheme is treated in the strictest confidence. 
Where there is a breach of data, this is reported to the Information 
Governance & Risk Manager of the County Council (as the Scheme 
Manager). Where a breach is considered to be materially significant such 
breaches would be reported to the Information Commissioners Office and 
the Pensions Regulator.

4.17 No such breaches have occurred relating to the Cumbria FPS since the 
implementation of GDPR in May 2018.

5.0 OPTIONS

5.1 The Fire Local Pension Board may note the actions that have been taken to 
review data quality within the Scheme and the future as detailed in the data 
improvement plan (Appendix 1). 

5.2 Alternatively the Board may propose alternative or additional areas of work 
to be considered that may improve the quality of data held by the Scheme. 

6.0 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Improved governance aids the Scheme in running efficiently and effectively, 
and controlling costs which will have a direct impact on revenue budgets.

7.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the report. The information 
contained within the report is for the Board’s information. The Board’s 

54



function is to assist the Scheme Manager in all aspects of the governance 
and administration of the FPS.

8.0 CONCLUSION

8.1 The Fire Local Pension Board remit is oversight of the governance of the 
Scheme especially in the area of pensions’ administration. Data quality is 
important to the Scheme as, as well as being a requirement of the Pensions 
Regulator, it impacts on member experience, may affect Scheme efficiency 
and cost control and can influence the reputation of the Scheme.

8.2 Following regular reviews of data throughout the year, a data improvement 
plan has been developed and included as Appendix 1 to this report. Good 
progress continues to be made in further improving scheme member data 
across the Scheme.

J Crellin
Director of Finance (s.151 Officer)

4th February 2020

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Data Quality Improvement Plan

Electoral Division(s): All

Executive Decision No*

Key Decision No*

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A*

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No*

N/A*If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

No*Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/A*Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

N/A*Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

55



PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

None

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact:

Alison Clark, Senior Manager – Pensions & Financial Services
01228 226279 
Alison.clark2@cumbria.gov.uk  

Pete George, Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Investments & Insurance
01228 226279
peter.george@cumbria.gov.uk

56

mailto:Alison.clark2@cumbria.gov.uk
mailto:peter.george@cumbria.gov.uk


Data Quality Improvement Plan 2019/20

Action Required: Why is this required: Metrics for 
success:

Timeframe: Lead: Update:

Commission an external 
review to identify 
missing data for deferred 
members “gone-aways”.

A review by YPS identified that 
the Scheme held incomplete 
addresses for 20 members 
within the Cumbria FPS. The 
Scheme commissioned an 
external company to 
investigate and attempt to 
locate the addresses for these 
members, and then extended 
to include all deferred 
members.

The initial target 
was met, as there 
was a 90% 
reduction of 
scheme members 
with incomplete or 
missing addresses 
before 31st March 
2019.

The remaining 
scheme members 
will be continue to 
be reviewed on a 
case by case 
basis. 

 .

Target Professional 
Services 
commissioned in Feb 
2019.

YPS records will be 
updated when verified.

PG A tracing agency was 
contracted to verify and 
(where appropriate) provide 
updated addresses for all 
deferred members in the 
scheme and any members 
where it is known their 
address is incomplete or 
missing.

Ten deferred members aged 
50 or over are currently 
being traced via the DWP 
Tracing Service.
Two overseas members 
have failed to respond to 
letters asking them to get in 
touch.
Two members contacted via 
electoral role information 
provided up to date 
addresses.
The few remaining members 
are aged 45 and under and 
decisions will be assessed 
on a case by case and value 
for money basis.

57



Action Required: Why is this required: Metrics for 
success:

Timeframe: Lead: Update:

Review outcome of next 
National Fraud Initiative 
work and follow up on 
any anomalies.

The NFI exercise will identify 
any records held by the 
Scheme that do not reconcile 
with data held by other public 
sector organisations. This may 
be an indicator that the 
Scheme has not been 
informed of a death and 
therefore payments may 
continue to be made in error or 
a re-employed pensioner 
where abatement could apply.

To resolve (or 
attempt to have 
resolved) 100% of 
identified cases 
within 6 months of 
being notified of 
each case.

Within 1 month of the 
receiving the NFI 
feedback, have a clear 
action plan for 
addressing each 
identified anomaly.

Where the Scheme is 
notified of an anomaly 
by the NFI exercise, 
the pension will be 
suspended. 

JB / AMcG For Cumbria FPS the 2018 
NFI exercise did not identify 
any scheme members that 
had died without the 
Scheme being aware of 
them.

The next data set from the 
NFI is scheduled in 2020.

Review the GAD high 
level summary report 
from the 2016 valuation

GAD have provided 
recommendations to address 
data quality ahead of the 2020 
scheme valuation.

Reduced number 
of scheme 
member records 
excluded from the 
2020 valuation.
The excluded 
records related to 
a number of new 
retained starters in 
the 2015 (CARE) 
scheme.

Prior to submission of 
data for the 2020 
valuation 

TBD Investigations indicated that 
the excluded records were 
correct, it was instead the 
validation was not allowing 
for the change to the 2015 
CARE scheme data points.
This has been fed back by 
YPS to the Fire SAB who 
plan to refer the issue to 
the Home office and by 
YPS to GAD as part of the 
feedback on the 2020 
valuation draft data 
specifications. 
YPS will provide an update 
when one is received. 

58


	Agenda
	3 Membership and Terms and Reference
	5 MINUTES
	7 Monitoring Report for the Period Ending 30 September 2019
	Appendix 1 FLPB - Monitoring Report for the Period Ending 30 September 2019
	Appendix 2 FLPB - Monitoring Report for the Period Ending 30 September 2019

	8 CUMBRIA FIREFIGHTERS’ PENSION SCHEME (FPS) DATA IMPROVEMENT PLAN
	Appendix 1 FLPB 04 02 20 - Report on Data Review and Data Improvement Plan


